
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

v.

WILLIAM S. DAHL

:
:
:
:
:

CRIMINAL ACTION

NO. 14-382-1

MEMORANDUM

Bartle, J. April 5, 2019

Before the court is the motion of defendant William S. 

Dahl (“Dahl”) to vacate, set aside, or correct his sentence 

under 28 U.S.C. § 2255. He also seeks appointment of counsel.

On January 20, 2015, Dahl pleaded guilty to a 

superseding indictment charging him with the following counts:

(1) three counts of attempted use of an interstate commerce 

facility to entice a minor to engage in sexual conduct, in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2422(b); (2) one count of attempted

enticement of a minor to travel in interstate commerce to engage 

in sexual activity, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2422(a); and 

(3) one count of attempted transfer of obscene material to 

minors, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1470. Dahl was sentenced to 

a term of imprisonment of 293 months.  Because Dahl had several 

prior Delaware convictions related to sexual activity with 

minors, this court sentenced him under the “Repeat and Dangerous 

Sex Offender Against Minors” provision of the United States 

Sentencing Guidelines, § 4B1.5, to the top of the Guidelines’
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range of 235 to 293 months’ imprisonment.  On appeal, the Court 

of Appeals vacated Dahl’s sentence and remanded for resentencing 

based on its determination that Dahl’s prior state convictions 

were not categorically “sex offense convictions” under the 

Guidelines. See United States v. Dahl, 833 F.3d 345, 348-49 (3d

Cir. 2016) (citing U.S.S.G. § 4B1.5)).

Thereafter, this court resentenced Dahl to a term of 

imprisonment of 293 months.  While Dahl’s Guidelines’ range

absent the “Repeat and Dangerous Sex Offender Against Minors”

designation was now 121 to 151 months’ imprisonment, this court 

granted the motion of the Government for an upward variance 

based on the serious nature of Dahl’s criminal conduct, his 

extensive criminal history involving similar misconduct, and the 

need to “protect society and particularly young boys from 

further crimes” by Dahl.  This sentence was affirmed on appeal.

See United States v. Dahl, 713 F. App’x 62, 65 (3d Cir. 2017). 

I

A federal prisoner “claiming the right to be released 

. . . may move the court which imposed the sentence to vacate, 

set aside or correct the sentence.” 28 U.S.C. § 2255(a). Such

a prisoner may attack his sentence on any of the following 

grounds: (1) the sentence was imposed in violation of the 

Constitution or laws of the United States; (2) the court was 
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without jurisdiction to impose the sentence; or (3) the sentence 

was in excess of the maximum authorized by law. Id.

The court must hold an evidentiary hearing on a motion 

under § 2255 “unless the motion and files and records of the 

case show conclusively that the movant is not entitled to 

relief.” United States v. Lilly, 536 F.3d 190, 195 (3d Cir. 

2008) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). 

However, “bald assertions and conclusory allegations do not 

afford a sufficient ground for an evidentiary hearing.” 

Mayberry v. Petsock, 821 F.2d 179, 185 (3d Cir. 1987). Thus,

the court may, without further investigation, dispose of “vague 

and conclusory allegations contained in a § 2255 petition” 

without granting a hearing. United States v. Thomas, 221 F.3d 

430, 437 (3d Cir. 2000).

II

The facts giving rise to Dahl’s prosecution and 

conviction are as follows. In October 2013, an undercover 

detective from the Delaware County, Pennsylvania District

Attorney’s Office was conducting an investigation into sex 

offenders’ use of online advertisements on the website 

Craigslist.org to contact and meet minors for sex. During the 

course of the investigation, the detective encountered a 

Craigslist advertisement “[l]ooking for young white cock” posted

by an individual later identified as Dahl.
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The detective, posing as a fifteen-year old boy, 

responded to the advertisement. Dahl, who was living in the 

state of Delaware, and the detective continued to communicate 

via email that same day, with Dahl attempting to convince the 

putative fifteen-year old boy to ride his bicycle to Delaware so 

they could meet. In email communications over the next few 

weeks, Dahl repeatedly brought up the topic of sex, engaging in 

graphic sexual talk about what acts they would engage in when 

they met. They eventually agreed to meet on November 21, 2013. 

On that date, officers observed Dahl in attendance at his 

regularly scheduled sex offender meeting during the time that he 

was also communicating with the boy about where to meet up for 

sex. When the undercover detective called off the meeting, Dahl

was taken into custody in the driveway of his residence in

Wilmington, Delaware.

At the same time that he was communicating with the 

first fifteen-year old boy, Dahl had also been corresponding

with a second undercover officer posing as a fifteen-year old

boy. This officer had responded to two additional 

advertisements placed by Dahl on Craigslist that were similar to 

the advertisement to which the first undercover officer 

responded. In the ensuing communications with the second 

undercover officer, Dahl again discussed engaging in sexual acts
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in graphic language and invited the putative boy to travel to 

Dahl’s house.

III

Dahl first asserts that his motion under 28 U.S.C. 

§ 2255 should be granted because the district court and the 

Government “acted in concert to amend [the] defective

superseding indictment while at sidebar.” Specifically, Dahl 

challenges the sufficiency of the superseding indictment as to 

Counts One, Two, Four, and Five. He asserts that this court 

“hinted to [the Government to] add/amend the charging instrument 

to be in compliance with statutory requirements,” that the 

Government proceeded to do so, and that this court thereafter 

denied his motion to dismiss the superseding indictment on that 

ground.

In Counts One, Two, Four, and Five, Dahl was charged 

with violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 2422(a) and (b). That statute 

provides:

(a) Whoever knowingly persuades, induces, 
entices, or coerces any individual to travel 
in interstate or foreign commerce, or in any 
Territory or Possession of the United 
States, to engage in prostitution, or in any 
sexual activity for which any person can be
charged with a criminal offense, or attempts 
to do so, shall be fined under this title or 
imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both.

(b) Whoever, using the mail or any facility 
or means of interstate or foreign commerce, 
or within the special maritime and

Case 2:14-cr-00382-HB   Document 129   Filed 04/05/19   Page 5 of 13



-6-

territorial jurisdiction of the United 
States knowingly persuades, induces, 
entices, or coerces any individual who has 
not attained the age of 18 years, to engage 
in prostitution or any sexual activity for 
which any person can be charged with a 
criminal offense, or attempts to do so, 
shall be fined under this title and 
imprisoned not less than 10 years or for 
life.

18 U.S.C. § 2422 (emphasis added). Thus, both sections of the 

statute criminalize a defendant’s attempts to engage a child in 

sexual activity for which any person could be charged with a 

criminal offense.

Dahl previously filed a pretrial motion to dismiss 

these counts pursuant to Rule 12(b)(3)(B) of the Federal Rules 

of Criminal Procedure on the ground that the Government had 

failed to identify in the superseding indictment the separate 

state or federal criminal offense with which Dahl or anyone else 

could be charged, as required under 18 U.S.C. §§ 2422(a) and 

(b). Dahl pleaded guilty before this court ruled on the motion

to dismiss. At that point the motion became moot. Contrary to

Dahl’s assertions in his § 2255 motion, the superseding 

indictment was never amended.

The purpose of an indictment is to provide the 

defendant with notice of the charges against him so that he may 

prepare a defense. See United States v. Radowitz, 507 F.2d 109, 

111-12 (3d Cir. 1974). Because an indictment only serves to 
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provide notice of the charges, it need not provide every detail 

of the Government’s evidence.  Rather, an indictment is “a 

plain, concise, and definite written statement of the essential 

facts constituting the offense charged.”  Fed. R. Crim. P. 7(c).

An indictment that substantially follows the language of the 

criminal statute is sufficient, unless it is so general as to 

prejudice the defendant in preparing his defense or endangers 

his guarantee against double jeopardy. See United States v. 

Eufrasio, 935 F.2d 553, 575 (3d Cir. 1991).

Although the government did not specify in the 

superseding indictment the underlying charges for which Dahl or

anyone else could be prosecuted, a list of the Delaware and 

Pennsylvania state statutes violated by Dahl was provided to his

counsel in advance of his guilty plea. See Doc. # 71-1. Thus,

Dahl was on notice of the separate state or federal criminal 

offense with which he could be charged as required under 18 

U.S.C. §§ 2422(a) and (b). See United States v. Berk, 652 F.3d 

132, 139 (1st Cir. 2011). We are aware of no precedent holding

that identifying a specific predicate criminal offense is a 

requirement in an indictment charging a violation of § 2422.

In an event, this court conducted a thorough colloquy 

at Dahl’s change of plea hearing.  At that hearing, Dahl stated 

that he understood the nature of the charges against him, the

essential elements of those charges, and the factual basis for 

Case 2:14-cr-00382-HB   Document 129   Filed 04/05/19   Page 7 of 13



-8-

the charges. Specifically, the court informed Dahl that the 

underlying sexual activity for which he could be charged 

criminally was a violation of Title 18, Pennsylvania 

Consolidated Statutes Annotated, Section 3123, which 

criminalizes involuntary deviate sexual intercourse with an 

individual less than 16 years of age. See 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. 

Ann. § 3123(a)(7). Because Dahl has not demonstrated that the 

superseding indictment violated any of his constitutional 

rights, we decline to grant him relief under § 2255 on this 

ground.

IV

As his second ground for seeking habeas relief, Dahl 

contends that this action was not adjudicated in the proper 

venue.  According to Dahl, the proper venue for prosecution of 

the crimes at issue was the District of Delaware, where he 

resided, rather than here in the Eastern District of 

Pennsylvania.

A defendant in a criminal trial has a constitutional 

right to be tried in the district in which the crime was 

committed. See U.S. Const. art. III, § 2, cl. 3 & amend. VI;

United States v. Perez, 280 F.3d 318, 327–28 (3d Cir. 2002).

Rule 18 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure also provides

that “[e]xcept as otherwise permitted by statute or by these 

rules, the prosecution shall be had in a district in which the 
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offense was committed.” Where the acts constituting the crime 

occurred in more than one location, the Constitution does not 

command a single venue. United States v. Goldberg, 830 F.2d 

459, 466 (3d Cir. 1987) (citing United States v. Reed, 773 F.2d 

477, 480 (2d Cir. 1985)). Instead, we determine jurisdiction 

“from the nature of the crime alleged and the location of the 

act or acts constituting it.” United States v. Pendleton, 658 

F.3d 299, 302–03 (3d Cir. 2011) (quoting United States v. 

Rodriguez–Moreno, 526 U.S. 275, 279 (1999)).  Venue is proper 

where any part of the crime occurred. Id. The lack of proper 

venue in a criminal proceeding can be waived by a defendant.

See Perez, 280 F.3d at 328.

Dahl was physically present in the state of Delaware 

when he committed his criminal acts.  But the intended victims 

of the crimes were located at all times in Delaware County, 

within the Eastern District of Pennsylvania.  Dahl communicated 

with his victims using cell phone and the internet.  He was well 

aware that both victims lived in Pennsylvania.  Indeed, Dahl 

attempted to convince the first victim to ride his bicycle from

Pennsylvania into the state of Delaware to meet.  He was 

arrested while chatting with the first victim about a location 

to engage in sex that night. Given these facts, venue was 

proper in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania.
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We therefore find no basis to vacate Dahl’s conviction

and sentence on this ground.

V

Dahl next asserts that his sentence and enhancements 

“were all a direct result of perjured testimony.”  Specifically, 

Dahl asserts that “[t]he use of enhancements date[s] back to 

1999 when Dahl was arrested by Probation Officer (Delaware) 

Gregory Morehart for possession of 3 discs which contained 

images of young boys ‘as young as 10[.]’ Morehart had no 

training to determine the precise ages of the boys.”  According 

to Dahl, he was subsequently evaluated and diagnosed with 

pedophilia on the basis of a report by Officer Morehart. He

challenges various factual statements in Morehart’s report and 

states “[w]ith all of these falsities shown all subsequent use 

of [Morehart’s] findings should become fruits of the poisonous 

tree.”

While the genesis of this “perjured testimony” is not 

entirely clear, Dahl’s presentence report contained information

about his violations of the terms of his probation imposed by

the Delaware state court as well as his diagnosis of pedophilia.

We thus assume that Dahl means to raise a challenge to that 

report. Dahl stated at his resentencing here that he had 

reviewed the presentence report and did not have any objections 

to it.  As stated above, Dahl’s sentence was affirmed by our 
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Court of Appeals. See Dahl, 713 F. App’x at 63.  In that 

opinion, the Court of Appeals rejected Dahl’s due process 

challenge to his sentence and affirmed this court’s decision to 

vary upward based on “Dahl’s criminal history, likelihood of 

(and prior) recidivism, and continued danger to the community.”

Id. at 68. Simply put, the record does not show any violation 

of Dahl’s constitutional rights based on consideration of the 

presentence report that would warrant relief under § 2255.

Accordingly, we decline to vacate, set aside, or 

correct Dahl’s sentence on this basis.

VI

Finally, Dahl contends that his guilty plea is invalid 

and nonbinding because he never signed any plea agreement. Dahl

and the Government initially proposed a conditional plea 

agreement under Rule 11(e)(1)(C) of the Federal Rules of

Criminal Procedure, but this court rejected that agreement in 

lieu of an open plea. The court did so due to the serious 

nature of the charges and the need to obtain further 

information, including a presentence report, argument from 

counsel, allocution from Dahl himself, and the testimony of any 

witnesses, before determining an appropriate sentence.

By entering a plea of guilty, a criminal defendant 

waives his or her constitutional rights to be tried by a jury, 

to confront his or her accusers, and to exercise the privilege 
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against self-incrimination. United States v. Lessner, 498 F.3d 

185, 192–93 (3d Cir. 2007) (citing Parke v. Raley, 506 U.S. 20, 

29 (1992)). “Like all waivers of constitutional rights, a 

guilty plea must be made ‘voluntarily, knowingly, and 

intelligently, with sufficient awareness of the relevant 

circumstances and likely consequences.’” Id. (quoting Bradshaw

v. Stumpf, 545 U.S. 175, 183 (2005)) (internal citations 

omitted).  Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure 

sets forth the standards governing the acceptance of guilty 

pleas.  It states that a district court may not accept a plea of 

guilty without first addressing the defendant, under oath and in 

open court, to ascertain that the plea is voluntary, that the 

defendant understands the rights that he or she is waiving by 

pleading guilty, and that there is a factual basis for the plea.

Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(b)(1)-(3).

Here, as discussed above, this court engaged in a 

fulsome colloquy of Dahl before accepting his plea.  During that 

hearing, Dahl agreed that he understood the nature of the 

charges against him, the rights he was waiving by pleading 

guilty, and the penalties he faced. He then knowingly and 

voluntarily entered his plea on the record in open court. There

is no requirement, constitutional or otherwise, that the 

Government and the defendant enter into any written agreement or 

other signed paperwork to memorialize the plea.  Accordingly, 
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the absence of a document signed by Dahl is not a valid ground 

to vacate, set aside, or correct his sentence.

VII

Dahl has also moved for appointment of counsel. A

defendant has no constitutional right to counsel in habeas

proceedings. Pennsylvania v. Finley, 481 U.S. 551, 555 (1987). 

Rule 8(c) of the Federal Rules Governing Section 2255 Cases 

requires the court to appoint counsel for an indigent defendant 

where an evidentiary hearing is required. See United States v. 

Bendolph, 409 F.3d 155, 160 (3d Cir. 2005).  Because we are 

denying the motion on its face without a hearing, the motion of

Dahl for appointment of counsel will be denied.

VIII

For the reasons set forth above, we will deny the 

motion of Dahl to vacate, set aside, or correct his sentence

under 28 U.S.C. § 2255. We determine that the motion and record 

of the action show conclusively that Dahl is not entitled to 

relief.  As a result, we decline to hold an evidentiary hearing.

See Lilly, 536 F.3d at 195. There was no need for appointment 

of counsel.

We will not issue a certificate of appealability since

Dahl has not “made a substantial showing of the denial of a 

constitutional right.” See 28 U.S.C. § 2253(c)(2); Slack v. 

McDaniel, 529 U.S. 473, 483 (2000).
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

v.

WILLIAM S. DAHL

:
:
:
:
:

CRIMINAL ACTION

NO. 14-382-1

ORDER

AND NOW, this 5th day of April, 2019, for the reasons 

set forth in the accompanying Memorandum, it is hereby ORDERED 

that:

(1) the motion of defendant for appointment of 

counsel (Doc. # 120) is DENIED; 

(2) the motion of defendant under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 to 

vacate, set aside, or correct his sentence (Doc. # 120) is 

DENIED; and

(3) no certificate of appealability will issue.

BY THE COURT:

/s/ Harvey Bartle III
J.
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